### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ALBERT HOLLAND,	)	
	)	
Appellant,	)	
	)	
<b>v.</b>	)	
	) CA	<b>ASE NO. SC 03-1033</b>
STATE OF FLORIDA,	) <b>L.</b>	Γ. No. 90-15905 CF10A
	)	
Appellee.	)	
	)	

## **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County, Florida

> BRADLEY M. COLLINS, P.A. Florida Bar Number 369438 600 South Andrews Avenue, Suite 500 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 Telephone (954) 763-7331 Facsimile (954) 764-5040

**Attorney for Appellant** 

**

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant ALBERT HOLLAND ("Holland") was the defendant and post-conviction movant in the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida. Appellee STATE OF FLORIDA ("State") was plaintiff.

References to the Record on Appeal will be designated by the symbol "R" followed appropriate page number(s) and encased in parentheses. Example of citation to Record on Appeal: "(R 152)." The Transcript of the rule 3.850 evidentiary hearing for review will be designated by the symbol "T" followed by appropriate page number(s) and encased in parentheses. Example of citation to rule 3.850 Transcript: "(T 159)." The Record of Appellant's second jury trial, including the trial transcript and other documents, is cited by the volume number preceding the symbol "R" or "SR" followed appropriate page number(s), separated by hyphens and encased in parentheses. Example of citation to Record of Second Trial: (82-R-5959).

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has appellate jurisdiction to review a Circuit Court's ruling upon a motion for post-conviction relief, pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 and 3.851, in a death penalty case. Art. V, § 3(b)(1), Fla. Const.; Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(1)(A)(1).

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

#### Claims III and VIII

A decision after a rule 3.850 evidentiary hearing must be supported by competent substantial evidence. Nixon v. State, 857 So. 2d 172, 176 (Fla. 2003) ("in order to affirm the trial court's ruling, the record must contain substantial evidence which would enable this Court to determine that Nixon did more than silently submit to counsel's strategy. . . . [T]here is no competent, substantial evidence which establishes that Nixon *affirmatively* and *explicitly* agreed to counsel's strategy.").

## Claims I, II, IV, V, VI and VII

To uphold a trial court's *summary* denial of claims raised in a 3.850 motion, the claims must be either facially insufficient or conclusively refuted by the record. *See* Fla. R.Crim. P. 3.850(d). Where no evidentiary hearing is held below, the Supreme Court must accept the defendant's factual allegations to the extent they are not refuted by the record. <u>Peede v. State</u>, 748 So.2d 253, 257 (Fla. 1999).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Albert Holland was charged by indictment August 16, 1990, in the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County, Florida. The indictment charged: Count I - First-Degree Murder of a Law Enforcement With a Firearm, contrary to §§ 782.04(1)(a) and 775.0823(1), Fla. Stat.; Count II - Armed Robbery, contrary to §§ 812.13(1), (2)(a) and (3)(a); Count III - Sexual Battery with a Deadly Weapon or Physical Force Likely to Cause Serious Personal Injury, contrary to § 794.011(3); and Count IV - Attempted First Degree Murder With a Deadly Weapon, contrary to § 782.04(1)(a) and 777.04.

Holland entered a plea of not guilty and proceeded to jury trial before Broward Circuit Judge M. Daniel Futch, Jr.<sup>1</sup> The jury returned verdicts of guilty as charged and Holland was sentenced to death. This Court, however, reversed the original judgment and sentence on March 24, 1994, in Holland v. State, 636 So. 2d 1289 (Fla. 1994). On remand, Holland's defense counsel, Kenneth Delegal, had developed a cocaine addiction (24-R-741) and was arrested for disorderly conduct and vandalism. (24-R-739-740). He was removed from the case July 26, 1995 (98-R-7583), *i.e.*, 16 months after this Court's March 24, 1994 remand. Mr. Delegal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> At trial, Holland was represented by James Stewart Lewis, Jr., Esquire (guilt phase counsel), and Evan H. Baron, Esquire (penalty phase counsel).

suspended his practice of law and, in August 1996, was found dead of a drug overdose. (37-R-1407).

Holland proceeded to jury trial before Broward Circuit Judge Charles M. Greene on September 24,1996, and was found guilty as charged on counts I, II, and IV, and convicted of the lesser included offense of attempted sexual battery with great force in count III. The jury recommended death 8-to-4 and the Court sentenced him to death on Count I; to life imprisonment on Count II (consecutive to Count I); to 15 years' imprisonment on Count III (consecutive to Counts I and II); and to 30 years on Count IV (consecutive to counts I and II and concurrent to count III). Holland appealed and this Court affirmed October 5, 2000, stating, *inter alia*:

Holland alleges that the trial court abused its discretion in denying Holland's objections to certain testimony regarding where Officer Winters' gun was found. The gun was located between some rocks in a field near the murder scene. Dr. Martell, a mental health expert, was called by the State to rebut Holland's defense of insanity. Dr. Martell testified that it was his opinion from looking at the photograph of the location where the gun was found that the gun was hidden by Holland and not randomly dropped.

\* \* \*

Holland argues that the trial court erred in admitting this testimony because Dr. Martell had no expertise which would qualify him to testify as to whether a gun was placed or randomly dropped. We agree.

\* \* \*

In the present case, Dr. Martell was not qualified as an expert in crime scene evidence. Therefore, the trial court should not have allowed Dr. Martell to give his opinion as to whether the gun was placed or randomly dropped. Nevertheless, we conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that this error did not affect the jury verdict. See *DiGuilio*. Prior to Dr. Martell's testimony, the State had already presented the testimony of Deputy McDonald, who found the gun the day after the murder. Deputy McDonald testified that he believed that the gun was placed between the rocks and not dropped. *This testimony was given without objection*.

Holland v. State, 773 So. 2d 1065, 1075-1076 (Fla. 2000) (emphasis added).

On October 1, 2001, the United States Supreme Court denied Holland's petition for writ of certiorari. <u>Holland v. Florida</u>, 534 U.S. 834, 122 S.Ct. 83 (2001).

Holland moved to vacate and set aside his Judgment and Sentence pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850. (R 113-386). The State filed a Response to the Motion to Vacate (R 431-982) and Holland filed a Reply to the State's Response (R 984-998), which, together, narrowed the issues originally set forth in the Rule 3.850 motion.

Following a <u>Huff</u> hearing and Case Management Conference, the Court issued its order concerning the conduct of evidentiary proceedings. The Court's *Order Re Huff Hearing Case Management Conference Pursuant to Rule 3.851 Fla.R.Crim.P.*, determined that an evidentiary hearing would only be required in order for the Court to pass upon Claims III and VIII of the Motion. (R 1003-1011).

An evidentiary hearing was held before Judge Greene April 10 and 14, 2003. (T 45-174). On May 19, 2003, the trial court entered an order denying Claims III and VIII on the merits and summarily denying each of Claims I, II, IV, V, VI and VII. (R 1037-1046). Holland filed Notice of Appeal on June 2, 2003. (R 1047).

This Initial Brief follows.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

# I. Guilt Phase Testimony

At retrial, Thelma Johnson testified that Holland asked if she had a "hitter" for smoking crack cocaine. (56-R-3297-8). Johnson said she did not have one, but led Holland to a wooded area so they could smoke crack together. (56-R-3299-3300).

Johnson, who had been smoking crack cocaine for two years prior to the incident and had incurred two felony convictions (56-R-3322-3), testified that she had smoked cocaine in this area "plenty of times." (56-R-3331). She got high with a lot of people she did not know. (56-R-3336). Holland began smoking crack through a beer can. Johnson said she did not smoke because she did not like to smoke from a can. (56-R-3300, 3327). Holland had a ten-dollar cocaine rock which he broke in half and smoked. (56-R-3301). The two were relaxed and talking. (56-R-3302). Holland was normal until he smoked the second rock (56-R-3332, 3337), after which he suddenly became violent (56-R-3302-3303), unzipped his pants and put his penis in her mouth. When she pushed it away, he hit her with a bottle. (56-R-3303-3304).

Pompano Beach Police Officer Pepper Shaw testified that Officer Winters came on the radio and said he had a possible suspect and then came on later and said he had been shot. (57-R-3438).

Civilian witness Roland Everson testified that on July 29, 1990, he was living at a nursery on Hammondville Road in Pompano Beach as a caretaker. (58-R-3492). He heard noises and walked out to find a police officer next to a marked K-9 unit holding a man in a headlock. (58-R-3492-3). Everson called 911. (58-R-3494). As Everson was hanging up the phone, he heard 2 shots. (58-R-3495). He saw the officer leaning on the side of the car. Everson testified that he saw Holland kneeling with the gun (58-R-3496), hesitating before he eventually left. (58-R-3498).

Betty Bouie testified that she was in a car on July 29, 1990 when she saw a man with a police officer in a headlock. She saw the man take a gun from the officer and shoot him with it. (58-R-3516-3518). The two were in a face-to-face headlock and that the man had to reach over the officer's back to get the gun. (35-R-3521-3522). She was standing only 3-4 feet away (58-R-3526) and heard two shots. (58-R-3531). In her statement to police in 1990, however, she had denied seeing the shooting. (58-R-3535-3536). Ms. Bouie had three felony convictions. (58-R-3519).

Pompano Beach Police Officer Michael Powell testified that he was the first officer on the scene when Winters was shot. (58-R-3538-3539). Winters was outside his car. (58-R-3540). The car was running. The windows were closed. The dog was in the backseat barking (58-R-3551-2).

Ms. Dorothy Horne testified that on July 29, 1990, she was in an automobile on Hammondville Road with her husband and daughter. (59-R-3660-1366). She saw a man and a police officer in a field, struggling over a gun. (59-R-3662). The men were close and their hands were moving up and down in the air. (59-R-3664). A shot rang out and the officer fell. (59-R-3664). Mrs. Horne heard a single shot (59-R-3665) and could not tell whose hands were on the gun. (59-R-3678).

Nicki Horne testified she was in the car with her parents on Hammondville Road (59-R-3684-3685) when she saw an officer and man struggling. (59-R-3685). Ms. Horne claimed two were struggling face-to-face when the man succeeded in taking the gun from the officer's side. She said she heard three shots. (59-R-3686-3687). The shots occurred quickly with very little time between. (59-R-3694-3695).

Parish Horne stated that on July 29, 1990, he was driving with his wife and child on Hammondville Road. (59-R-3700-3701). He saw the struggle in his mirror. (59-R-3701-3702). The officer had Holland in a headlock when Holland reached around, took the gun and shot him. (59-R-3703-3704). Parish said he heard two or three shots (59-R-3705) and that Holland left right after the shooting. (59-R-3713).

Pompano Beach Police Officer Kevin Butler testified that Thelma Johnson and Officer Winters had been found seven-tenths of a mile apart. (60-R-3721).

Officer Butler stated Holland had vomited at 8:50 p.m. on July 29, 1990 and police collected the vomit. (60-R-3770). Holland told Butler he had smoked crack cocaine and drank that day. (61-R-3807). Butler said he interviewed Holland in Spanish through an interpreter at 9:30 p.m. and Holland said his name was Antonio Rivera. (60-R-3738-3739). Butler testified that he again interviewed Holland at 2:30 a.m. on July 30, 1990 (60-R-3730), and claimed Holland told him the officer had threatened to put the dog on him and that the two started struggling. (60-R-3745). Officer Butler claimed Holland told him that the officer had pulled out the gun and that Holland had managed to get it from the officer, shooting him twice. (60-R-3745). Holland stated that the officer had pulled out his gun and threatened to shoot him. (61-R-3834). Police never tested Holland's hands for gunshot residue. (61-R-3849).

Forensic toxicologist Gene Detuscan tested Holland's vomit (62-R-3878-3879) whose alcohol content was 0.03. (62-R-3879). The cocaine present (62-R-3881) must have been taken orally or nasally (not only smoked) and must have been ingested in the previous 60-75 minutes. (62-R-3885-3886). Toxicologist Michael Wagner also found Holland's vomit positive for cocaine. (62-R-3889-3890).

Crime Scene Technician Deborah Pollock testified that she arrived at the Thelma Johnson crime scene at 6:54 p.m. (62-R-3906). At 7:26 p.m., she left for

2600 Hammondville Road because she heard Winters call-in on the radio that he had been shot. (62-R-3908-3909). Pollock collected Winter's nightstick, sunglasses, two empty shell-casings and a spring. (62-R-3909). Fingerprint Examiner Robert Holbrook testified that a latent fingerprint on the hood of Winters' cruiser matched a latent print from the thumb of Holland's left hand. (62-R-3935, 3944-3945).

Forensic DNA Expert Jeffrey Ban testified that blood evidence obtained from the outside of the driver's door of Officer Winters' patrol car was consistent with blood belonging to Holland. (63-R-4035). Ban testified blood found on Winters' shirt was consistent with that of Holland (63-R-4043-4045) and that human blood of unknown origin was detected on Holland's pants and sneakers. (63-R-4055-4062).

Evidence technician Monica Datz attended Officer Winters' autopsy (63-R-4125-4126), where two projectiles were obtained: one loose in Winters' underwear and one removed from his left pelvis area. (63-R-4128-4132). There was a bullet fragment on a white t-shirt. (63-R-4142).

Firearms Examiner Dennis Grey testified that he had examined a semiautomatic Smith and Wesson handgun which held eight rounds in the magazine and one in the chamber (63-R-4159-4161). Gray, who received seven projectiles along with the weapon (64-R-4166), testified that the cartridges from the autopsy were that the right magazine pouch had been damaged from being hit by both shots (63-R-4173-4178), each of which had been fired from a distance of 3-6 inches. (63-R-4178-4182). Grey ruled-out contact wounds or that the gun had been purposely shoved under Winter's bullet-proof vest (64-R-4199-4200), and testified it could fire if another person were to strike the hand of the person holding it. (64-R-4203-4).

Crime Lab Analyst Daniel Radcliffe testified Officer Winters' hands were positive for gunshot residue on both palms and the back of one hand. (65-R-4230).

The former testimony of Dr. Larry Tate was read to the jury. (65-R-4266). Dr. Tate stated that there had been two gunshot wounds to the body: one to the left of the navel and one where the abdomen reaches the thigh. (65-R-4276,4284). The abdominal wound was fatal; the other superficial. (65-R-4290-4292). A fragment was retrieved from the victim's underwear and one from his abdomen. (65-R-4294). Both had gone through the ammunition pouch on Winter's belt. (65-R-4298). Though he could not determine the order the shots were fired in (65-R-4301), the abdominal shot had pierced the bullet-proof vest. (65-R-4303-4304).

Abraham Bell was leaving his shop about 7:15 or 7:20 p.m. when he heard an officer say, "Hey you, get over here." (65-R-4320-4321). Bell was 40-50 feet away.

(65-R-4325). The man stopped and went back to the cruiser. The officer exited and told the man to put his hands on the cruiser and he complied. (65-R-4321-4324).

The officer placed his night stick in the man's back (65-R-4324), a struggle ensued and the officer grabbed the man, placing him in a headlock and taking him down to the ground. (65-R-4324). Bell said the two were facing one another. (65-R-4325). The man tried to rise to his feet and the officer hit him 2 or 3 times with the nightstick across the back. (65-R-4325-4326). The officer lost his night stick (65-R-4327) and the two began struggling over the officer's firearm. (65-R-4327-4328-4330). The gun came out of the holster and discharged twice. (65-R-4331).

The man then left the scene. (65-R-4332). Bell identified Holland as the man who struggled with the victim. (65-R-4328). Bell, who has a felony conviction (65-R-4332), claimed to witness this through four lanes of traffic. (65-R-4336). He says both men's hands were on the gun (65-R-4347) when it discharged. (65-R-4355).

The State next presented the testimony of Deputy Brian McDonald, who had found the firearm the day after the incident. Deputy McDonald was permitted to testify that he believed the gun had been intentionally placed and hidden between the rocks rather than dropped. (65-R-4371-4381). Though the State had referred to Deputy McDonald's expected testimony in its opening statement (56-R-3271-3272),

this testimony was given without any objection by the defense. During its closing, the State capitalized on the proposition that the gun had been hidden. (82-R-5873).

The prosecution rested and a judgment of acquittal was denied. (65-R-4396-4401). The defense called Dr. William Love, a clinical psychologist for nearly 30 years. (67-R-4426). Dr. Love, a former professor at Nova University (67-R-4426), was a board certified neuropsychologist (67-R-4426-4427) who had been declared an expert in neuropsychology. (67-R-4428-4429). Dr. Love examined Holland in 1991 after reviewing extensive medical records. (67-R-4430-4431). He reviewed records from when Holland was severely beaten in federal prison. (67-R-4433-4434). The beating and CAT scans showed a shift in the brain. (67-R-4434-4435).

Dr. Love testified that the right frontal horn of Holland's brain was displaced. (67-R-447l). He stated that Holland had begun to develop serious drug problems when he was 16 or 17 years old (67-R-4437), included the abuse of alcohol, marijuana, heroin, PCP, LSD, cocaine, Dilaudid® and Percodan®. (67-R-4439, 4448).

Dr. Love interviewed Holland and reviewed his inpatient records from St. Elizabeth's mental hospital (67-R-4440-4441), one of the most prestigious mental hospitals in the United States. (67-R-4441). Holland had been sent to St. Elizabeth's after being found insane in the District of Columbia. (67-R-4442-4443).

Holland was diagnosed as suffering from schizophrenia, a biochemically-based disease characterized by a breakdown in the ability to perceive reality. (67-R-4445-4446). Holland was given several anti-psychotic drugs at St. Elizabeth's, including Haldol® and Thorazine.® (67-R-4512). His behavior consistent with schizophrenia began after the severe beating in federal prison. (67-R-4446). Alcohol and drug abuse exacerbates the problems of schizophrenics. (67-R-4447). Dr. Love testified that Holland was legally insane at the time of the crime. (67-R-4449-4452).

The defense called the Chief Medical Examiner of Palm Beach County, Dr. John Marracini (67-R-4530-4531), a graduate of Harvard Medical School and board certified practitioner of anatomic, clinical and forensic pathology (67-R-4531) who was declared an expert in forensic pathology. (67-R-4534). He reviewed the autopsy report, physical evidence and witness statements (67-R-4535-4536) and noted the victim's wounds were irregular as the projectiles had passed through the officer's clothes and equipment. (67-R-4539-4540). Residue on the victim's hands is consistent with their having been on or near a firearm as it discharged. (67-R-4546).

Dr. Marracini testified the physical evidence was consistent with the victim's holding a person in a face-to-face headlock with both combatants' hands on the gun as it fired. (67-R-4555). He also said it was possible both individuals had their

fingers inside the trigger guard at the same time. (67-R-4559). He said the evidence was consistent with shots fired very rapidly (67-R-4566-4567) with the second shot caused by the struggle rather than by an intentional act by the shooter. (67-R-4570).

Dr. Raymond Patterson, an expert in forensic psychiatry for 15 years, Forensic Director for the State of Maryland, Acting Commissioner of Mental Health for the District of Columbia and Surveyor for the Joint Commission on Accreditation (69-R-4659-4662), stated St. Elizabeth's Hospital is one of the most respected mental hospitals in the country. (69-R-4670-4671). Holland was first admitted there on July 1, 1981, when he was referred by a court for evaluation of his mental competency Holland underwent multi-disciplinary evaluation by and sanity. (69-R-4672). hospital staff, who concluded he was insane. (69-R-4673-4674). The court found him legally insane and committed him to St. Elizabeth's. (69-R-4675). Holland was diagnosed as suffering from chronic undifferentiated schizophrenia, as well as substance abuse. (69-R-4677). Schizophrenia is a major mental disorder that compromises the ability to recognize reality. (69-R-4678). Schizophrenics are far more likely than others to become violent when on drugs or alcohol. (69-R-4682).

Holland was given 1,000 mg. of Thorazine® per day, later reduced to 750 mg. (69-R-4585-4586). Thorazine® is a major tranquilizer which acts as an anti-

psychotic drug. (69-R-4686-4688). Holland, who complained of electricity running through his body, had benefitted from treatment with Thorazine<sup>®</sup> and requested it. (69-R-4687-4688). It is rare to ask for Thorazine<sup>®</sup> in order to abuse it. (69-R-4688).

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