### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ALBERT HOLLAND,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. SC03-1033

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, Jr. ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEBRA RESCIGNO
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLA. BAR NO. 0836907
1515 N. FLAGLER DRIVE
9<sup>TH</sup> FLOOR
WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33401
(561) 837-5000

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

#

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

<u>LeCroy</u>, 727 So.2d at 239 (quoting Kennedy v. State, 547 So.2d 912, 913 (Fla.1989)).

Claim I alleges that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to testimony from Deputy Brian McDonald, the officer who found the murder weapon, that "he believed the gun had been intentionally placed and hidden between the rocks rather than dropped." The trial court agreed with the State that this claim was legally insufficient, procedurally barred and without merit (PCR 1007-08, 1043-44). The trial court also found that the claim was refuted by the record (PCR 1007-08,

1043-44). Regarding legal insufficiency, it is clear that Claim I fails to allege the requisite prejudice under Strickland, i.e., a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. The proceeding referred to in Strickland is the trial. Claim I fails to allege how the results of Holland's trial would have been different had defense counsel objected to Deputy McDonald's testimony. Instead, he improperly contends that the outcome of his appeal would have been different had counsel objected. According to Holland, had defense counsel objected to Deputy McDonald's testimony, the Supreme Court would have been precluded from relying upon it, on appeal, in finding Dr. Martell's testimony to be harmless. See Holland, 773 So.2d at 1075-76.

Holland "may not simply file a motion for postconviction relief containing conclusory allegations . . trial counsel was ineffective and then expect to receive an evidentiary hearing." Kennedy v. State, 547 So. 2d 912, 913 (Fla. 1989). Conclusory allegations are legally insufficient on their face and may be denied without a hearing. Ragsdale v. State, 720 So.2d 203, 207 (Fla. 1998) (opining that a summary or conclusory claim "is insufficient to allow the trial court to examine the specific allegations against the record").

Additionally, Holland's claim is procedurally barred. The

admission of Dr. Martell's opinion testimony, that the qun was placed down, was challenged on appeal and found to be harmless error. The Florida Supreme Court has repeatedly held that it is inappropriate to recast a substantive claim as one ineffective assistance in order to avoid a procedural bar. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Kight v. Dugger</u>, 574 So. 2d 1066, 1073 (Fla. 1990) ("A procedural bar cannot be avoided by simply couching otherwise-barred claims in terms of ineffective assistance of counsel."); Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990) ("Allegations of ineffective assistance cannot be used to circumvent the rule that postconviction proceedings cannot serve as a second appeal."). Claim I is a re-cast or sub-claim of the objection to Dr. Martell's testimony into an ineffectiveness claim; arguing that defense counsel should have objected to Deputy McDonald's testimony on the same subject so that the Supreme Court would have been precluded from relying upon it in support of its harmless error rationale.

Relying upon <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 711 So.2d 1371, 1372 (Fla. 1998) and <u>Corzo v. State</u>, 806 So.2d642 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002), Holland argues that Claim I cannot be considered procedurally barred. Those cases are inapplicable. In <u>Jackson</u> the Fourth District held that an argument is not procedurally barred if it is raised on direct appeal but not addressed because unpreserved. Similarly, in <u>Corzo</u>, the Second District held that

a defendant is not procedurally barred from raising an ineffectiveness claim in his post-conviction motion just because he raised the same ineffectiveness claim on direct appeal since there was no written opinion and thus, no way of knowing whether the claim had been rejected or merely dismissed as premature. See also Wells v. State, 598 So.2d 259 (Fla. 1992)(claim cannot be considered procedurally barred if not objected to and therefore not preserved for appellate review).

Here, Holland's argument is not simply that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to Deputy McDonald's testimony but that counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the testimony and thereby preventing it from being used to find the improper admission of Dr. Martell's opinion testimony, that the gun was placed down, to be harmless error. As such, it is a recast or sub-claim of the Dr. Martell claim and procedurally barred.

The trial court also agreed that Claim I was without merit. To begin with, Deputy McDonald did not make the statement, on direct examination, that "he believed the gun had been intentionally placed and hidden between the rocks rather than dropped," as Holland alleges. Rather, Deputy McDonald explained that he was searching in a field and that as he "looked in between some rocks and some pieces of equipment, [he] did locate a gun." (DA Vol. 65, p. 4374). When asked "[h]ow it was placed

in there," Deputy McDonald responded:

DEPUTY MCDONALD: To the best of my knowledge it was facing, the barrel of the gun was facing south. It was actually on the ground, but you had to bend down to actually see the gun.

PROSECUTOR: What do you mean you had to look down to see the gun; was it dropped or placed or what?

DEPUTY MCDONALD: It was, to me, it didn't appear dropped. It was actually like a little cave, a crevice that you had to bend down and look and had to reach in to touch the gun.

(T Vol. 65, 4374-75).6

Defense counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to object to Deputy McDonald's testimony that it didn't appear to him that the gun had been dropped. "[0]pinion testimony of a

DEPUTY MCDONALD: From the way I observed it, yes.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: And what makes you say that or believe that?

DEPUTY MCDONALD: Basically from first looking at it. As I said, you had to crouch down and take a look inside of there. I didn't see it from where I was standing. I was looking down toward the ground as I did find it.

(DA Vol. 65, 4381). Defense counsel could not object to his own questions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Holland's page cites include cross-examination: DEFENSE COUNSEL: So it's your belief that the gun was placed there as opposed to being dropped or being thrown down?

lay witness is only permitted if based on what the witness has personally observed." Nardone v. State, 798 So.2d 870, 873 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001), citing Fino v. Nodine, 646 So.2d 746 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994). See also Sec. 90.701, Fla. Stat. (2001). Here, Deputy McDonald's testimony was clearly based upon his personal observations as the finder of the gun. Thus, defense counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to clearly admissible testimony. Nardone, relied upon by Holland, is immediately distinguishable from this case because it involved opinion testimony from a police officer, who was not an eyewitness and whose testimony was not based on personal observations, as to how an "aluminum strip" was used.

Moreover, Holland has failed to show the necessary prejudice because he has failed to show a reasonable probability that the result of his trial would have been different had defense counsel objected. Because Deputy McDonald's testimony was clearly admissible, any objection would have been overruled and any motion for mistrial denied. Further, even assuming arguendo that the testimony was objectionable, the result of the trial would not have been different. There were several eyewitnesses in this case who testified that they saw Officer Winters struggling with Holland and then saw/heard Holland shoot the officer.

Abraham Bell testified that he was leaving his bait and

tackle shop when he saw a police car coming toward him. heard the officer say over the public address system, "Hey you, get over here." A man whom he later identified as Holland stopped, turned around and walked over to the officer's car, which had stopped 40 to 50 feet from Mr. Bell. The officer got out of his car and told Holland to put his hands on the car, which Holland did. The officer went to use the microphone on his shoulder, but it appeared to be broken, so he reached down to use the radio on his belt. Meanwhile, he held his nightstick on Holland's back. When he reached for the radio on his belt, Holland turned and swung at the officer's head, but Officer Winters ducked, and they started "tussling." During the tussle, Officer Winters got Holland in a headlock and put Holland on the ground. Holland tried to get up, but Officer Winters told him to stay down and hit him in the back two or three times with his nightstick. Holland rose anyway, and he and the officer faced each other in a headlock while they struggled. Holland tried repeatedly to grab Officer Winter's gun, but "he couldn't get enough grip on it." Meanwhile, Officer Winters tried to keep Holland away from the gun. Holland kept "trying to get his weapon," but he could not extract it because it had a "latch" on While Holland tried to pull it out, Officer Winters resisted, trying "to push down on [the gun]." Finally, Holland managed to shift the officer's belt so that the holster was

closer to the front of him, and he managed to free the gun from the holster. Officer Winters tried to radio for help and tried to open the car door to let his dog out, but Holland shot him twice and then ran. (DA Vol. 65 4318-35).

Betty Bouie testified that she was riding in her car when she saw a tall man have a police officer in a headlock, take the officer's gun out of his holster and shoot the man (DA Vol.58, 3516-18). The Horne family was also riding in their car when they saw the struggle. Mr. Horne saw the man reach around, take the officer's gun and shoot him (DA Vol. 59, 3700-13). His daughter, Nikki Horne, also saw the man take the gun from the officer's side and then she heard three shots (DA Vol. 59, 3684-95). Based on the eyewitness testimony, there is no reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding would have been different.

Holland does not challenge the State's legally insufficient and without merit arguments. Rather, he argues that Claim I should be reversed because the trial court found the claim was "refuted by the record," but did not attach the record portions refuting the claim. The trial court is only required to attach the record portions showing the prisoner is not entitled to relief when the denial is not predicated upon the legal insufficiency of the motion on its face. See Lightbourne v. State, 471 So.2d 27 (Fla.1985) (attachments not required when

claim is legally insufficient). Here, since the denial was predicated, in part, on the legal insufficiency and procedurally barred nature of the claim, attachment of the records was not required (PCR 1007-08, 1043-44). Further, in Bland v. State, 563 So.2d 794 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>rev. dismissed</u>, 574 So.2d 139 (Fla.1990), it was held that failure to attach portions of the record was not reversible error where the trial court considered the transcript from direct appeal and it was part of the record in the rule 3.850 proceeding. Here, the trial transcript was filed with the trial court and part of the 3.850 proceedings. The trial court's order specifically states that ti relied upon the trial record (PCR 1003). Roberts v. State, 678 So.2d 1232 (Fla. 678 So.2d 1232 (Fla. 1996) and Flores v. State, 662 So.2d 1350 (Fla. 1995) are distinguishable as they did not involve express reliance by the trial judge upon the trial transcript and there was no indication in those cases that it was part of the record in the 3.850 proceeding. Consequently, affirmance is required.

Claim II alleges that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to ten (10) comments by the State Attorney during guilt phase closing argument. The trial court agreed with the State that Claim II is also legally insufficient (PCR 1008-09, 1044). The claim under sub-point A, which alleges that the State Attorney misstated the "expert testimony concerning the

relationship between schizophrenia and insanity [by stating] '[a]ll the doctors agree, even schitzophrenics (sic) know the difference between right and wrong, " is factually insufficient because Holland does not explain which expert's testimony differed from the statement and how it differed. Additionally, Holland has failed to allege, other than in mere conclusory terms, how he was prejudiced by trial counsel's failure to object to all ten comments. Conclusory allegations are legally insufficient on their face and may be denied without a hearing. Ragsdale v. State, 720 So. 2d 203, 207 (Fla. 1998) (opining that a summary or conclusory claim "is insufficient to allow the trial court to examine the specific allegations against the record"); Kennedy, 547 So. 2d at 913 (opining that "[a] defendant may not simply file a motion for post-conviction relief containing conclusory allegations that his or her trial counsel was ineffective and then expect to receive an evidentiary hearing"). See, Gorham, 521 So. 2d at 1069 (finding claim legally where defendant insufficient asserted that undisclosed photographs might have proven another person was responsible for crime).

Moreover, Claim II is without merit. Trial counsel was not deficient for failing to object to the comments during the State Attorney's guilt phase closing argument. Considered in context, the comments were not objectionable and even if they were

objectionable, Holland cannot prove prejudice because there is no reasonable probability that the result of the guilt phase would have been different had trial counsel objected.

## A. ALLEGATION THAT STATE ATTORNEY MISSTATED THE EVIDENCE

The State began closing arguments by telling the jurors that it was important for them to take the evidence back with them during deliberations because the items in this case were "worth a thousand words . . . ." (DA Vol. 82, 5868-69). The State Attorney noted that the 50 second audiotape of Officer Scott Winters' radio broadcast for help was important because it rebutted portions of Holland's testimony:

So, take that statement back, that video tape back with you and look it over carefully. Also, the recording, the one minute or fifty seconds of the voice of Officer Scott Winters saying, "1094, Code 3. I have him in custody."

And then the next thing you hear, he gives his call numbers.

# "I've been shot. He's got my gun. Running west."

Listen to that, it's fifty seconds. And it's important to listen to that because when the defendant took the stand- and by the way, you have to view and consider his testimony, his credibility, just like any other witness- and he took the stand and told you, listen to this tape that when he started that broadcast, "1094, Code 3. He's in custody." He was still in the patrol car.

Well, I submit to you that is ridiculous. Just by listening to the tape you can hear Officer Winters is obviously in a struggle. And "1094, Code 3" means lights and sirens,

I need a back up right now.

And you can hear in his voice. One of the last things he ever said, you can hear the struggle in his voice, the emergency of needing a response from his fellow officers.

(DA Vol. 82, 5870-71). Holland argues that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object when the State Attorney misquoted Officer Winters as saying "[h]e's got my gun." The record shows that Officer Winters said:

"Fox-Trot six-two. (Inaudible) 2111 Northwest four court, apartment four. (Inaudible) ten-eight. (inaudible) He went where.

"Thank you. (inaudible) code two. I got him in custody. 656 ninety-four code three. 2600 Hammond. I got him in custody.

"656, ten-nine your twenty?

"(Inaudible) Unable to raise.

"All units India 6-5-6 possibly needs a ninety-four code three 2600 Hammond. ninety-four code three (inaudible).

"656 is at 2600 Hammond. Ten-ninety-four code three (inaudible).

"All units ten-three. We're trying to get 656's ten-twenty. 6-5-6 go ahead. You're too close to your microphone and you're yelling.

"(Inaudible) He's westbound. I've been shot.

"All units ten ninety-four code three 2600 Hammond, Hammond Units do not advise if you are fifty-one, just go, I want to leave the radio open."

(DA Vol. 77, 5315-16). Holland is correct that Officer Winters

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